THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 04 2022**

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

S.C. SUPREME COURT

R. Lawton McIntosh, Judge

---

Opinion No. 2021-UP-278 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021)  
Lower Court Case Number: 2016A05324

---

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Jason Franklin Carver,

Petitioner.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002011

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Respectfully submitted by:

**s/Donald L. Smith**

Donald L. Smith (SC Bar#6699)

122 N. Main Street

Anderson, SC 29621

Telephone: (864) 642-9284

Facsimile: (864) 642-9285

attorneydonaldsmith@gmail.com

*Attorney for Petitioner*

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not finding reversible error in the trial court's instructing the jury on accomplice liability, "the hand of one is hand of all", when the State failed to prove that an agreement existed between Petitioner and the two other accused to commit murder.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision in affirming the trial judge's instructions for accomplice liability runs in conflict with the *Wilds v. State* ruling.
3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not finding the trial court erred in denying a directed verdict when the State failed to prove the elements of murder.
4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not finding trial judge's judicial bias deprived Petitioner of his Constitutional Right to due process.
5. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not finding Petitioner was denied his Constitutional Right to due process by prosecutorial abuse.
6. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not finding the State's failure to disclose the details of the plea bargaining with Curry violated Petitioner's Constitutional Right to due process.
7. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not finding the trial court abused its discretion in denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial.
8. Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case runs in conflict with its decision in *State v. Campbell*.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Procedural History

Petitioner was indicted by the Anderson County (Grand Jury) for the offense of murder. This murder charge arose from the shooting of Stephen Cameron on March 28, 2016. Woodrow Curry, the self-confessed shooter, implicated Milton Gambrell and herein Petitioner.

Petitioner's case was called to trial on August 21, 2017, before Judge R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury. Donald L. Smith represented Petitioner. Chelsey Moore and Scott McElhannon were the assistant solicitors handling the case for the State.

On August 25, 2017, the jury found Petitioner guilty, and he was sentenced to thirty (30) years. A timely notice of appeal was served on September 25, 2017, and the appeal was perfected. (R., pp. 407-408).

Petitioner was finalizing the record on appeal when he learned of the trial for Gambrell. It appears after Petitioner was tried and convicted, Gambrell was charged with "Accessory before the fact to a Felony" and "Solicitation to Commit Murder". Two witnesses from his trial, Detective Marzolf and Curry, were made State witness against Gambrell. These two witnesses offered statements that were either not introduced or ran inconsistent with their previous testimonies in Petitioner's case. Petitioner believed that these statements should be explored in depth as they go to the very core of the crime for which Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to thirty (30) years of imprisonment.

On October 19, 2018, Petitioner moved to hold his appeal in abeyance based on newly discovered evidence which this Court granted on December 10, 2018.

On December 21, 2018, Petitioner filed his Motion for New Trial in the trial court. (R., pp. 129-288). He amended the same on December 27, 2018. (R., pp. 289-337). The trial court

summarily dismissed the motion on January 4, 2019. (R., p. 3-4). Petitioner moved to reconsider said Order (R., pp. 338-402), and submitted an Addendum to it on January 17, 2019. (R., pp. 403-406). The trial judge denied the motion on January 30, 2019. (R., p. 1-2).

On February 7, 2019, Petitioner filed his Notice of Appeal and moved to consolidate the two (2) appeals. (R., pp. 414-417). This Court granted the Motion to Consolidate on April 4, 2019.

On July 21, 2021, in an unpublished opinion issued *per curiam*, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction. (App., p. 1). A timely petition for rehearing was filed on August 16, 2021. (App., p. 7). The Court of Appeals requested a Return and on September 7, 2021, the State filed a Return. (App., p. 61). On November 22, 2021, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. (App., p. 71). This Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

### **Relevant Facts**

This incident happened on March 28, 2016. Petitioner had known Gambrell for years and they had worked on cars together for additional income. (R., p. 599, 6.15). On that fateful day, Petitioner went to Gambrell's home to complete work on a car, which he had nearly finished that weekend. Petitioner went directly to the vehicle and never entered the household to partake in the festivities which were taking place in the home. Curry, Gambrell and Cameron, were inside the home.

Earlier that day, Cameron had sold his dirt bike to Gambrell's nephew and had no means of getting home. (R., p. 600, 22.25 & p. 601, p. 1.3). Gambrell, who had been drinking the whole day, was unable to drive, came outside to ask Petitioner to do him the favor of taking Cameron home. (R., p. 603, 4.14; p. 545, 2.15). Curry could not take him home because he did not have a driver's license. (R., p. 566, 13-18). Thereafter, Petitioner commenced to drive

Cameron to his home on Sterling Bridge Road, which took a total of approximately thirty (30) minutes. *Id.*

While Petitioner was away, Gambrell and Curry discovered an ounce of their cocaine was missing. Gambrell and Curry deduced Cameron had taken the cocaine. (R., p. 571, 1.15; p. 604, 15.18). They attempted to reach Petitioner and Cameron as they traveled to Cameron's home. (R., p. 568, 14.21; p. 604, 19.21). They were unable to reach either one as Petitioner had no mobile phone. *Id.*

Upon Petitioner's return, Gambrell told him he forgot something. He told him he wished he had a phone because he would have told him to turn around and come back. As a result, Gambrell asked him to go back and get Cameron. (R., p. 604, 22.25 & p. 605, 1.6; p. 646, 8.19). Neither Gambrell nor Curry shared the issue regarding the missing cocaine. (R., p. 647, 20.24; p. 650, 2.15). They did not want to take the chance that Petitioner would refuse to make the return trip. Based on the fact Petitioner was not incorporated into the cocaine issue, he understood he was merely bringing Cameron back because either he or Gambrell had forgotten something.

Since Curry insisted on coming with him and because Gambrell's statement was made with the implication that something was simply forgotten, Petitioner understood Cameron wanted to come back. Petitioner decided to use Gambrell's Buick since there would be no room for a third person in his car (with his pit bull and tires in the back seat of his Escort). (R., p. 646, 20.25; p. 647, 1.19). Petitioner needed an empty back seat for Cameron to sit. *Id.*

Upon nearing Cameron's residence, Petitioner discovered Curry had a gun on his person when it fell to the floor (a .38). (R., p. 650, 16.21). Petitioner was confused. He did not understand the need for a gun. Petitioner immediately started to cajole Curry into leaving the gun in the car. (R., p. 650 22.25 & p. 651, 1.2). In an effort to ensure that the gun did not leave

the vehicle, Petitioner remarked that there were two of them, as opposed to the solitary Cameron. Clearly, that was simply a fact.

Petitioner's negotiating prompted Curry to leave the .38 in the car. Seeing that Curry left the .38 in the car, Petitioner was confident that he had averted any unnecessary trouble. At the very least, he had withdrawn from any criminal act for which he may have been implicated. Both men got out of the vehicle, with Curry in the front.

#### **AT CAMERON'S PLACE: The Shooting**

Curry went to the door and knocked. There was no response. Thinking Cameron may not be home, Petitioner and Curry made their way back to the car. As they were doing so, Curry noticed Cameron peeking out the window; and he reversed his direction. By the time Cameron got to the front door, Curry was ascending the porch. Curry immediately broached the topic of the missing cocaine. (R., p. 549, 16.25). Cameron denied taking anything. (R., p. 1.5). He pushed Curry and let him know that he was not welcome. (R., p. 550, 14.19).

Upon Curry reiterating the accusation, Cameron nearly shoved him off the porch. (R., p. 550, 14.25; p. 653, p. 16.25). Curry rose with the .25, which he testified was in his waistband, and unknown to anyone but him. *Id.* He brought the gun to a stop and pointed it directly at Cameron.

Petitioner frantically screamed at him to put the gun away. (R., p. 653, 20.25 & p. 654, 7.10). When it became apparent that Curry would not heed his pleas, Petitioner started toward the car, intending to leave Curry behind. (R., p. 655, 6.23).

In the meantime, Cameron's "cocaine muscles" allowed him to mock Curry and his gun. "What are you going to do, shoot me?" As he finished the sentence, he swiped the gun from right to left. When Curry regained his control of the gun, he brought it back to where it had been

seconds before. He then shot Cameron twice at point blank range.

### **AFTER THE SHOOTING**

Petitioner, who had reached the car, heard the gunshots. Frightened and anxious, Petitioner dropped the keys on the floorboard. (R., p. 655, 15.16). As he grasped for them, Curry got in the passenger seat, and demanded he drive. Curry threatened his life and instructed him to leave the lights off and leave the neighborhood. (R., p. 658, 2.7). Unarmed, Petitioner did not put up any resistance; and he did as he was told. Curry also offered that should he feel compelled to tell anyone, he would kill him and his mother. (R., p. 657, 13.18). Since he had just seen him kill Cameron, he recognized that this was not a hollow threat.

Both men drove back to Gambrell's home in silence. Thoughts of how and why this occurred were racing through Petitioner's head. He wanted to get Gambrell's car back to him; grab his car and dog; and race to his mother's house. When Petitioner and Curry arrived back at Gambrell's house, Petitioner was emotional and still shaken by the events which had taken place. Curry told Gambrell he shot Cameron, summing it up with, "Shit happens." Petitioner left Gambrell and Curry arguing about the shooting. (R., p. 661, 6.25, & p. 662, 1.10).

Petitioner's apprehension was not unfounded. Fifteen (15) minutes later, Curry drove past Petitioner's mother's house in his green Grand Am. (R., p. 664, 2.19).

### **THE INVESTIGATION**

On the day Cameron's body was found on the front porch of his residence, Officer Eric Russell was assigned the duty of canvassing the neighborhood to see if anyone had seen or heard anything. It was brought to his attention by a fellow officer that there were video surveillance cameras on two of the homes near the crime scene. At Petitioner's trial, Russell testified the team obtained footage of the video and "skimmed" portions of the video that afternoon. (R., pp.

481, 18.25).

It appears several videos were collected from the neighbors by the law enforcement officers. Law enforcement officers and/or prosecution had copies of these video surveillance footages on the day following the shooting. Thus, as early as March 29, 2016, the officers and/or prosecution had video surveillance footages which they used to trace the vehicle back to Gambrell's house. A search warrant was executed on Gambrell's house. (R., p. 118, 9.25). Curry was found at Gambrell's house, with the .38 and drugs which he promptly admitted were his. Gambrell was not present at the time of the search warrant execution.

In his initial interaction with the investigating officers, Petitioner did not disclose Curry's deed for fear of retribution against him and his mother. It was only when Curry was arrested that Petitioner gathered his nerves and went to the police. He called Gambrell thinking he would also like to get it off his chest. Gambrell suggested they go to the police together. Petitioner intended to assist them with details of the shooting incident. Instead, he was arrested and charged with murder.

Prior to Petitioner's trial, Curry admitted to shooting Cameron. He entered into a plea agreement with the State prosecutor. He pled to Voluntary Manslaughter, but his sentencing was deferred. (R., p. 791, 12.17). Petitioner was tried for Murder.

Due to Curry's testimony, the judge believed this was a drug transaction gone awry. There was no transaction. A transaction in another word for contract, which requires something being given in exchange for something else. The judge charged the jury with the "hand of one is hand of all" doctrine.

#### **AT PETITIONER'S TRIAL**

At the trial, the State and the defense differed over the events that led to Cameron's

killing. According to the State, Petitioner was connected to a drug trade, and that Curry and Petitioner worked for Gambrell. The State's theory was that Gambrell, Curry and the Petitioner planned to collect on a drug debt, rob or kidnap Cameron. In support of its theory the State presented eleven (11) investigating officers, who did not seem to have been coordinated with one another; and Curry, the self-confessed shooter.

Detective Kreig Marzolf (hereinafter referred as "Marzolf"), the lead investigator in the case, testified to the following: (1) there were two (guns), a .25 and a .38 caliber revolver involved in this case (R. p.521, 8.23); (2) the .25 was not recovered, but the .38 caliber revolver was found at Appaloosa (R. p. 528, 24.25; p. 529, 1); (3) the residence where Buick was found was owned by Gambrell's friend (R. p. 495, 11.15); (4) Petitioner was not provided any gun (R. p., 526, 11.14); (5) Petitioner's fingerprints did not match the one found on the .38 caliber (R. p. 529, 2.9); (6) Petitioner came to the ACSO voluntarily, (R., p. 514, 4.8); (7) there had been people who had come and gone from Cameron's house, (R. p. 509); (8) Angie's friend came to the deceased's house and rolled his body (R. p. 500, 8.11); (9) Daniel White accompanied Detective Henry to the residence where the Buick was found (R., p. 504, 6.8); (10) Daniel White gave a statement that Christopher's girlfriend, Angela, planned on robbing Cameron (R. p. 507, 23.25; 508, 1.3); (11) ACSO reviewed two videos but did not review all the videos taken during the night of the shooting (R. p. 509, 7.12); (12) he could not say that Petitioner was part of any drug enterprise (R., p. 520, 2.6); (13) Petitioner was not in Gambrell's residence when cocaine was taken (R. p. 525, 23.25; p. 526, 1 ); ( 14) Curry expressed to Petitioner and Mrs. Curry that if they told anyone about anything, he would kill them (R. 531, 18.25 & p. 532, 1); and, (15) Petitioner was a witness to Curry shooting Cameron (R. p. 532, 2.5).

The State also presented Curry as a state witness. The State provided Curry with the

opportunity to plead to voluntary manslaughter as opposed to murder. Curry testified among other things, that: (1) he worked for Gambrell for three (3) years (R. p. 570, 5.7); (2) Petitioner took Cameron home and was gone for twenty or thirty minutes (R. p. 570, 14.16); (3) Gambrell discovered that cocaine was missing and told Curry about it (R. p. 570, 21.25; p. 390, 4.12); (4) Gambrell gave him a gun (R. p. 571, 13.15); (5) he had a .25 caliber gun in his waistband (R. p. 563, 20.25; 564, 1.4); (6) the minute Petitioner pulled in the driveway, Gambrell and Curry told him that he needed to go back and get Cameron (R. p. 572, 21.24); (7) Petitioner had a shiny gun that had a long barrel (R. p. 573, 22.25); (8) there was no plan to kill anybody (R. p. 574, 20.25); (9) he left the .38 caliber in the car (App. p. 574, 1.5); (10) he talked to Cameron and relayed that Gambrell wanted his drugs back or pay for it (R. p. 575, 8.12); (11) Cameron started pushing him and as a result he pulled his unknown gun and shot Cameron (R. p. 575, 22.25; 576, 1.3); (12) he was charged with murder but pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter (R. p. 553, 4.5); and, (13) despite his many charges before, this was the first time his sentence was deferred (R. p. 557, 20.25). The State did not introduce into evidence the gun which Petitioner allegedly possessed.

The prosecution also presented a surveillance video, taken from one of the deceased's neighbors, showing the traffic onto Cameron's property. It showed the first time Petitioner arrived at Cameron's his house, which was approximately 9:00 p.m. At approximately 9:30 p.m., it showed the white Buick Petitioner drove the second time he went to Cameron's house, pulling into the driveway. The surveillance video from the following day had a two-hour time gap.

For his part, since Curry threatened Petitioner and his mother's life, Petitioner intended to establish Curry's propensity for violent behavior. Petitioner called Sheila Curry, the wife of Curry, who admitted that her husband threatened to kill her and her son, if they were to discuss what had happened. (R. p. 583, 13.18).

Petitioner also presented his employer, Timothy Jacobs, who testified that he has known Petitioner since 1999. Petitioner worked at Greenville Transmission Clinic, which Jacobs owns. (R. p. 586, 18.22). He vouched for Petitioner's reliable, loving, hardworking and family-oriented personality. (R. p. 587, 16.25; 588, 1.5).

Gambrell was also called as a defense witness. The Court refused to allow Gambrell to testify. The judge failed to provide any reason for same. He did allow Petitioner to examine him outside the presence of the jury. (R, p. 598-605, 1.4). The Court indicated to Gambrell that he was strongly opposed to him testifying. (R., p. 606-607). Gambrell had his counsel present. Petitioner merely sought to establish he was not at Gambrell's home long enough to learn of the alleged theft.

However, the Court would have not any part of him testifying. The Court stopped Gambrell from testifying, despite the fact his learned counsel was there to offer him advice. The court mandated that Gambrell leave the courtroom with his attorney and exercise his right to remain silent. (R. p. 605-609, 1.12).

Petitioner believed that Gambrell would have testified as to what he relayed to Petitioner, would have exonerated the latter from the murder charge. Since Gambrell could no longer stand in court, Petitioner attempted to introduce the audio recording of Gambrell's police interrogation. (R., p. 618-619). The court initially denied Petitioner's request, deciding that it did not meet the standards as set forth in State v. Doctor, 413 S.E.2<sup>nd</sup> 36, and would not exculpate Petitioner. (R. p. 620, 5.16).

Petitioner also subpoenaed Quay Gambrell to testify on the sale of the dirt bike. When the witness failed to attend the hearing, the Court refused to extend or continue the trial, ruling that the witnesses' testimonies were immaterial to the guilt of Petitioner. (R. p. 709,7.25 & p.

710, 1-15).

At the close of evidence, the judge charged the jury. The jury's instructions included discussion of murder and the accomplice liability theory. Following the deliberations, Petitioner was convicted of murder on August 25, 2017.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

#### **THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE TRIAL JUDGE'S INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY ON ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY, "THE HAND OF ONE IS THE HAND OF ALL", WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT AN AGREEMENT EXISTED BETWEEN PETITIONER AND THE TWO OTHER INDIVIDUALS ACCUSED OF COMMITTING MURDER.**

The indictment against Petitioner read as follows: "That Jason Carver did in Anderson County, on or between March 28, 2016, and March 29, 2016, unlawfully and with malice aforethought, either express or implied, kill Steven Cameron by means of shooting the victim with a gun, and the victim died as proximate result thereof. All in violation of §16-3-10, South Carolina Code of Laws (1976 as amended)."

At the trial, Petitioner objected to a charge of accomplice liability because the indictment charged him only as a principal in the murder case. There was nothing in the wording of the indictment that indicates Petitioner was being charged with the alternative theory of accomplice liability. Despite the principle laid down in State v. Hicks, 257 S.C. 279, Petitioner believes the evidence in this case does not support an accomplice liability charge.

Under the accomplice liability, "a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet or assist in the commission of that crime, through some overt act." State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 649-50, 515 S.E.2d. 98, 101 (quoting State v. Austin, 299 S.C. 456, 459, 485 S.E.2d., 830, 832

(1989).

The first part of the definition does not apply to herein Petitioner, as the State admitted Petitioner did not shoot deceased Cameron. (R., p. 765, 11.12). The State's own witness, Curry, confessed to shooting the deceased when deceased Cameron charged at him during their heated exchange. (R., p. 550, 18.25).

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