STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 14 2022**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

S.C. SUPREME COURT

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

*On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Court of Appeals*

Unpublished Opinion No. 2021-UP-278 (Filed July 21, 2021)  
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2017-002011

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JASON FRANKLIN CARVER,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2021-001505

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

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

**IX. The Court of Appeals correctly resolved Petitioner’s allegation of trial court error in instructing the jury on accomplice liability was procedurally barred.**

Respondent asserted in its brief in the Court of Appeals that Petitioner had failed to preserve the above issue for appellate review as he failed to object at trial. (FBOR at 27-28, citing *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”)). The Court of Appeals resolved that the issue was not preserved and did not address the merits at all, not even in the alternative. (App. 5). The record fully and fairly supports the issue was procedurally barred and that Petitioner was not entitled to merits review. The trial court gave Petitioner the opportunity to object at both the charge conference and at the conclusion of the jury charge, and Petitioner declined both times. (R. p. 698-99 and 737; *see also* 774). Having failed to object, Petitioner did not preserve this issue for review. *State v. Stone*, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985) (“a defendant’s failure to object to the charge as made or to request an additional charge, when an opportunity has been afforded to do so, results in a waiver of his right to complain about the

charge on appeal”); *see also* Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (failure to object to a jury instruction “shall constitute waiver of the objection”).

Petitioner does not acknowledge that the Court of Appeals found the issue procedurally barred. (See Pet. at 12-17). However, he argued in his petition for rehearing to the Court of Appeals that his ability to object was “shut down by the trial judge.” (App. petition 31-33). Yet, the record shows separate opportunities to object. (See R. pp. 698-99; 737 and 774). Consequently, the Court of Appeals appropriately found the issue barred. At any rate, and in the alternative, the record shows no error in the trial judge’s instruction.

Under the “hand of one, hand of all” theory of accomplice liability, a person “who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.” *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 648, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). Here, there was evidence presented that Petitioner acted with Curry at the direction of Gambrell in order to bring Cameron back to Gambrell, or to bring the money or the drugs Cameron took from Gambrell back to Gambrell. (See R. pp. 547-49; 567 and 646). Both Curry and Petitioner were armed. (R. pp. 547-48). Consequently, there was evidence, if believed, that they joined together for an illegal purpose and the charge was appropriate. *See Barber v. State*, 393 S.C. 232, 712 S.E.2d 436 (2011) (charge appropriate even if another individual was the actual shooter when four men acted in concert to commit an armed robbery). The trial court did not err in charging the jury on accomplice liability as the evidence presented at trial supported the instruction.

Petitioner argues in his petition to this Court that “[t]he State failed to establish there was a prior agreement among the three defendants....” (Pet. at 15). This is simply a question for the jury to determine. However, Curry’s testimony, if credited, supports that he and Petitioner acted

together at Gambrell's direction, with Gambrell even supplying guns to Curry. Further, Petitioner admitted in his statement to officers and his testimony at trial that he was acting at Gambrell's direction, admitted being present, and admitted that weapons were being taken to Cameron's home. (*See* R. pp. 646-50 and 680-87). Respondent notes the evidence in the record that the jury carefully considered Petitioner's statement: the jury asked for the statement to be replayed and to be recharged on murder and hand of one, hand of all liability. (R. pp. 768-69). Notably, defense counsel again did not object to the "handling of the jury's request" by the trial judge. (R. p. 774). But again, the record confirms that the jury instruction issue was not preserved for merits review on appeal, and there is no error in the Court of Appeals' finding the issue was procedurally barred. Certiorari review is not warranted, and the petition should be denied.

**II. The Court of Appeals did not reach the merits of Petitioner's accomplice liability instruction issue as the issue was procedurally barred. Consequently, the Court of Appeals decision is not contrary to resolution of the accomplice liability issue on the merits as reflected in *Wilds v. State*.**

Again, there was no objection to the instruction and the Court of Appeals appropriately found the instruction issue was procedurally barred. Respondents incorporates the prior discussion as if repeated verbatim. Further, Respondent notes that Petitioner neither relied upon *Wilds*, a 2014 case, in the brief of appellant dated October 4, 2019, nor raised an argument based on *Wilds* in his petition for rehearing in addition to contesting the procedural bar, (see App. at 37-38). It is difficult to see how any such argument on conflict with precedent was properly presented and preserved for inclusion in the petition. *See generally* Rule 242 (d)(2), SCACR ("Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition..."). At any rate, the issue is without merit. Petitioner argues that "Curry was the shooter, and Petitioner did not join in the scuffle" and subsequent shooting. (Pet.

at 17). In light of his asserted factual conclusion of no connection, he argues that the accomplice liability charge was erroneously given. (Pet. at 17-18). Petitioner's position fails both on the law and his interpretation of the conflicting facts.

In *Wilds*, this Court found that counsel was deficient in failing to object to the charge, and the defendant was prejudiced, because the only evidence presented was that *the defendant* was the shooter. 407 S.C. at 439, 756 S.E.2d at 390. As such, there was no need to charge accomplice liability during his trial. *Id* at 439-40, 756 S.E.2d at 390-91. The opposite is at work here. The evidence was that Curry was the shooter, but that Petitioner was acting in concert with him to obtain either the drugs, money or Cameron himself to take back to Gambrell. (*See R.* pp. 547-49; 567; 646-50 and 680-87). Consequently, there is no conflict in resolution of these two cases. The charge here was appropriate to the facts of the case. *See Barber, supra*. *See also State v. Washington*, 431 S.C. 394, 407, 848 S.E.2d 779, 786 (2020) (“if the record contains no evidence [alleged accomplice] was the shooter, then the accomplice liability instruction should not have been given.”).

To the extent Petitioner argues to this Court that he did not “join in the scuffle” and, additionally, that the trial judge failed to consider the testimony Petitioner was threatened by Curry after the crime, (see Pet. at 17-18), these are suggestions for argument, not identification of the lack of evidence supporting the instruction. Because the law is determined by the evidence presented, and not counsel's argument on what the jury should accept, the argument presented here cannot prevail. *See Washington*, 431 S.C. at 411, 848 S.E.2d at 788 (noting “the settled principle that “[t]he law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial”) (quoting *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 31, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732 (2008)), Here, the trial court appropriately instructed on the legal structure needed for the jury to consider the

conflicting evidence of the extent to knowledge and involvement and determine whether the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt criminal liability through hand of one, hand of all. *See generally State v. Harry*, 413 S.C. 534, 541, 776 S.E.2d 387, 391 (Ct. App. 2015), *aff'd*, 420 S.C. 290, 803 S.E.2d 272 (2017) (“ ‘In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.’ ”) (quoting *State v. Gibson*, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 770 (Ct.App.2010)); *see also State v. Crowe*, 258 S.C. 258, 265, 188 S.E.2d 379, 382 (1972) (“It is further well settled that, if two or more combine together to commit an unlawful act, such as robbery, and, in the execution of that criminal act, a homicide is committed by one of the actors, as a probable or natural consequence of the acts done in pursuance of the common design, all present participating in the unlawful undertaking are as guilty as the one who committed the fatal act.”). Again, the issue is procedurally barred, but if not so, Petitioner’s argument would fail on the merits. Certiorari is not warranted, and the petition should be denied.

**III. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the denial of a directed verdict where the co-conspirator Curry testified that there was no plan to kill the decedent. The evidence shows that Petitioner was knowingly engaged in the conspiracy to kidnap or rob the victim.**

The Court of Appeals resolved the trial judge did not err in declining to direct a verdict of acquittal “because the State produced evidence of Carver’s presence at the scene of the shooting as a result of an arranged plan to undertake an illegal act.” (App. 3). The Court of Appeals decision is supported by the record and well-established case law.

“On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 235–36, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353–54 (2016) (quoting *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381,

755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014)). “The Court’s review is limited to considering the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478–79 (2004)). In essence, “[u]nless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776-77 (2011).

At the close of evidence, Petitioner moved for a directed verdict. (*See R.* pp. 718-19). The trial judge determined the case should go to the jury, noting “although [Petitioner] might not have gone down there for the ultimate act that was committed, the jury has a right to find or could find that it was a natural and probable consequence of their initial criminal conspiracy.” (*R.* p. 719, lines 2-6). The record does not show error in the trial judge’s ruling.

In the similar case of *State v. Harry*, 420 S.C. 290, 803 S.E.2d 272 (2017), the appellant appealed his murder conviction under the “hand of one, hand of all” theory of accomplice liability. He argued the circuit court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict as the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence he acted in concert with his codefendant who had admitted shooting the victim. In reviewing the facts, this Court set out that Harry had gathered a group to aid in retrieving a TV from the victim, and one of the group shot the victim. *Harry*, at 293, 803 S.E.2d at 273. Much like the differing testimony here, Harry claimed he did not know the retrieval process would turn deadly, and even asserted he tried to “calm the waters” when the interaction became “tense.” *Id.* This Court resolved the matter was appropriate to submit to the jury due to the “differing inferences that may be drawn from the evidence....” *Harry*, at 293, 803 S.E.2d at 273.

Petitioner asserts there is insufficient evidence to show he and Curry were acting in concert “to harm or kill Cameron.” (*Pet.* at 18-19). As explained in the first issue above,

evidence was presented to show that they did in fact act in concert, both were armed, and, in these circumstances, like *Harry*, a jury may logically resolve that the death was a natural and probable consequence of their joint enterprise. Though Petitioner disagrees with the jury's factual resolutions, that is not a proper basis for appellate review of his directed verdict issue. *See State v. Larmand*, 415 S.C. 23, 32, 780 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2015) (“[O]ur duty is not to weigh the plausibility of the parties’ competing explanations.”). Certiorari is not warranted, and the petition should be denied.

**IV. The Court of Appeals properly found Petitioner’s allegation of trial judge bias was not preserved for review.**

The Court of Appeals resolved in summary fashion that Petitioner’s arguments that “his right to due process and a fair trial were impaired because the trial court’s actions suggested a lack of neutrality” were “unpreserved for appellate review.” (App. 5). Though Petitioner asserts there were various instances in this trial where he received unfavorable rulings which he contends reflects bias, noticeably absent is an assertion that he objected on bias, or made any motion for mistrial or other remedy based on bias. (See Pet. at 21-27). Consequently, the Court of Appeals properly found the issue was procedurally barred. *See Parks v. Morris Homes Corp.*, 245 S.C. 461, 471, 141 S.E.2d 129, 134 (1965) (“If the remarks of the trial judge were considered prejudicial, it was the duty of the defendant to call the matter to the court’s attention at some appropriate time during the trial, and the failure to do so amounts to a waiver of the alleged error.”). Further, merely showing “adverse rulings” does not support trial court bias. *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 288, 762 S.E.2d 535, 547 (2014). Further still, the rulings complained of simply do not show error much less bias.

Petitioner makes four separate arguments in support of his assertion of bias: 1) the trial judge's treatment of Gambrell's decision whether to testify<sup>1</sup>; 2) the trial judge failed to allow a continuance to present Gambrell's nephew, Quay; 3) the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's motion to recall Detective Marzolf and Sheila Curry; and 4) alleged the trial judge demonstrated a "lack of neutrality in his various statements during trial" regarding the illegal plan to get the drugs, money or Cameron which indicated he had formed an opinion in the case. (Pet. at 21-27). The Court of Appeals found record support that Gambrell had made a decision to invoke the Fifth Amendment so there was no error in the trial judge not allowing him to take the stand. (App. 4, citing *State v. Hughes*, 328 S.C. 146, 150, 493 S.E.2d 821, 823 (1997)); that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion to grant a continuance where the testimony could have been cumulative, (App. 4); that there was no error in denying Petitioner's request to recall the detective where Petitioner had received the ability to cross-examine, (App. 5); and that any argument regarding the recalling of Curry was abandoned on appeal as Petitioner "did not make any arguments or cite any authority related to this witness," (App. at 5 n. 2). Petitioner does not acknowledge these rulings, or that the Court of Appeals correctly resolved the matters based on clear record support. To the extent that a pattern of adverse rulings may show some type of bias, Petitioner has not even shown the adverse rulings at issue here were anything other than proper rulings on the facts and law. But again, Petitioner did not make any objection or otherwise seek relief on the basis of alleged bias. The issue is not preserved for review. Consequently, certiorari is not warranted, and the petition should be denied.

---

<sup>1</sup> Relatedly, Petitioner argued that "his due process rights were violated by the trial court's efforts to explain his codefendant's Fifth Amendment rights," but the Court of Appeals found that issue was not preserved either. (App. 5).

**V. The Court of Appeals found no merit to Petitioner’s allegation that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Petitioner’s new trial motion based on the allegations that the State filed different charges for co-defendants; deferred sentencing of one co-defendant; and that any error in disclosure of a recording of the prosecution’s meeting with a co-defendant was cured when the trial court allowed time and opportunity to view the recording before cross-examination.**

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